A Neglected and Untreated Population:

Addressing the Systemic Underdiagnosis of Females with ADHD

Amber R. Tighe

Department of Psychology, Northwest University

Dr. Clint Bryan and Professor Kimberly D'Angelo

November 17, 2021

This undergraduate thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the graduation requirements of the Northwest University Honors Program.

Acknowledgements

I give immense thanks to the diligence, patience, and guidance of my advisors, Dr. Clint Bryan and Prof. Kimberly D'Angelo. To my friends and family who saw me through this process, I thank you for your patience, kindness, and love.

Abstract

ADHD is a neurobehavioral disorder that has been historically associated with young boys, although recent research has focused on bolstering the scarce selection of research on females with the disorder. I evaluated a large collection of articles that comprise the field's current stance on the general topic and analyzed key points of consensus that arose. Boys are disproportionately diagnosed with ADHD, but this fact is likely due to a combination of factors that disadvantage girls' diagnostic outcomes. Such factors include differences in symptom expression, the presence of comorbidities, gender norms, stereotypes, bias in diagnostic criteria, and the tendency to suppress symptoms to avoid public rejection. The complex interaction between these variables has led to a systematic neglect of females with ADHD that leaves many untreated and struggling with the sequelae.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Abstract	ii
Introduction	1
Method	2
Symptomatology Variance	3
Empirical Evidence of Symptomatologic Discrepancies	3
Differences in Symptom Thresholds	
Parent and Teacher Ratings	6
Comorbidities	7
Overall Rates	7
Gender-Specific Prevalence	8
The Dangerous Role of Biases and Stereotypes	9
Gender Bias and Stereotyping	9
"Disruptive Boy" Stereotype	
The Representativeness Heuristic	12
The "Halo Effect"	13
Bias in Diagnostic Criteria	
The DSM-5 and Stereotypical Presentations of ADHD	
Potential Recommendations for the DSM-5	
Conclusion	19
References	21

Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurological disorder that presents itself in childhood, comprising three subtypes: predominantly hyperactive-impulsive type (ADHD-HI), predominantly inattentive type (ADHD-PI), and combined type (ADHD-C) (5th ed.; DSM–5; American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). ADHD was historically viewed as a childhood disorder, although recent research has revealed that the disorder affects many individuals across the lifespan (APA, 2013; Faraone et al., 2006; Simon et al., 2009).

Males are diagnosed with ADHD more frequently than females, with approximate male-to-female ratios ranging from 2:1 to 9:1 (APA, 2013; Nussbaum, 2012; Skogli et al., 2013). However, such ratios are confounded by the type of sample, as clinical samples consistently yield higher male-to-female ratios than population-based samples, suggesting disproportionate gender representation (Nussbaum, 2012; Ramtekkar et al., 2010; Skogli et al., 2013). Male-to-females ratios diminish to near equal levels approaching adulthood, though little evidence exists for a late onset of ADHD in women (Ahmad et al., 2019), suggesting that something else is the cause of the discrepancies in prevalence rates. Emerging evidence demonstrates that girls are older than boys on average upon diagnosis (Klefsjo et al., 2020; Quinn, 2005; Skogli et al. 2013; Walters, 2018) and that girls with ADHD tend to struggle with more internalizing symptoms than boys (Rucklidge & Tannock, 2001).

Additionally, comorbidities have immense implications for individuals with ADHD, with as many as 75% of children with ADHD likely to have a comorbid—or co-occurring—psychiatric condition (Barkley, 2006). Further, comorbid conditions such as anxiety and depression may present more complications for females with ADHD than males (Gershon, 2002). Trends in research illustrate the likelihood of a silent wave of females going undiagnosed

and untreated for ADHD (Walters, 2018). One study estimated that ADHD affects 32 million females worldwide, a number large enough to categorize the diagnosis of ADHD in females as a public health crisis (Staller & Faraone, 2006).

In this literature review, I aim to answer my proposed research question: What role does the existence of gender differences in the expression and clinical course of ADHD play in the systemic underdiagnosis and undertreatment of females with the disorder? In this review, if demographic data is known of specific groups, they will be referred to directly and precisely, such as women or adolescent boys. Conversely, if a statement is applicable to all ages and genders or the age of a group is unknown, the terms "males" and "females" will be used.

Method

Throughout the preparation of this literature review, special attention was given to the quality of sources included. Articles used herein were retrieved using the search engines PubMed and EBSCOhost, on which results were limited to those with a publication date after January 1, 1990. One article was the exception to this rule (Tversky & Kahneman, 1974); this anachronism was unavoidable, as this piece was the most credible source available on its topic. The use of peer-reviewed journal articles and APA publications served as the foundation for establishing exclusion criteria. When applicable, certain sources were retrieved from the reference sections of other articles that had been found through the two main databases. Keywords central to my search were "ADHD or attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder," accompanied by "gender or sex or males or females," "symptom differences or symptomatology," "comorbid or comorbidities or coexisting conditions," and/or "prevalence or prevalence rates." Various combinations of these keywords were entered into the two databases.

Other exclusion criteria used to select my sources were as follows: a) the article was required to be written in English; b) the sample being studied had to consist of patients diagnosed with ADHD; and c) it was paramount that the study provided explicit data or recommendations on gender differences, comorbidities, and/or symptom profiles as they pertain to ADHD. Articles were selected up until November 5, 2021, thus allowing any articles written from January 1, 1990, to November 5, 2021, to be eligible for inclusion in the literature review. In total, 45 articles were collected and analyzed for potential relevance to the prevalence, discrepancies, and variance of ADHD based on gender. Each article was thoroughly evaluated for relevance and significance of content, then categorized into broad categories formulated based upon the information contained within the selected sources. The results of the aggregation of these sources and implications of such findings are discussed below.

Symptomatology Variance

Not every individual with a psychological disorder evidences the same cluster of symptoms. Differences in symptom expression are referred to as symptomatology, an aspect of ADHD that has experienced a recent surge in research, particularly as it relates to gender differences in the clinical course of the disorder. Only recently has the field directed its emphasis toward the gender disparity in research, consistent with the lack of consideration of gender differences in the DSM-5 itself (Hong et al., 2014; Klefsjo et al., 2020). However, such novel prevalence of studies supplementing the field has shed light on discrepancies in the way that males and females with ADHD express their symptoms.

Empirical Evidence of Symptomatologic Discrepancies

Classifying the diagnosis of females with ADHD as a public health concern introduces implications concerning unique symptom profiles. It is vital to first validate the existence of

gender differences in symptomatology. Many studies have confronted such differences, such as the work of Gaub and Carlson (1997), which outlined that girls with ADHD present greater intellectual impairment and decreased levels of externalizing behaviors than their male counterparts. A meta-analysis conducted by Gershon (2002) emphasized those findings and provided evidence that females with ADHD suffer from more internalizing problems than males, suggesting that comorbidities may produce a more problematic clinical course for females.

Unfortunately, without the overt presence of externalizing problems, females with ADHD are likely being under-identified (Mowlem et al., 2019a). One study went so far as suggesting that one-half to two-thirds of females with ADHD are undiagnosed (Walters, 2018), although this claim is not universally accepted (Gomez-Benito et al., 2019; Thomas et al., 2015). Nonetheless, the underdiagnosis of females with ADHD is evidenced by the large pool of data demonstrating clear differences in symptom expression based on gender. The most widely accepted variance is that females are more likely to experience symptoms of inattention, and they largely display less hyperactive or impulsive symptoms (Gershon, 2002; Nussbaum, 2012; Quinn, 2005; Sassi, 2010).

One particular study, conducted by Rucklidge and Tannock (2001), provided abundant evidence of gender differences in adolescents with ADHD. Rucklidge and Tannock (2001) found that the girls with ADHD were more impaired than ADHD boys on measures of depression, self-reported anxiety, distress, locus of control, and vocabulary scores. ADHD girls also reported more conduct and cognitive symptoms, in contrast with ADHD boys (Rucklidge & Tannock, 2001). In clear agreement with Rucklidge and Tannock (2001), Skogli et al. (2013) demonstrated nearly identical results in their study. Females with ADHD were found to have elevated levels of psychosocial impairment, internalizing symptoms, anxiety, depression, and conduct and

behavioral issues (Skogli et al., 2013). Another study suggested that females with ADHD are more impaired than ADHD males in measures of impulse control and working memory (Stibbe et al., 2020). These widespread findings introduce implications for the identification and treatment of ADHD, especially since ADHD boys are more likely to present with hyperkinetic and impulsive symptoms (Staller & Faraone, 2006). Moreover, Kok and colleagues (2016) discovered that girls with ADHD seem to struggle more with interpersonal issues as a result of the disorder, such as peer victimization, friendship, social skills and functioning, and bullying.

Differences in Symptom Thresholds

Another confounding variable in the identification and treatment of females with ADHD is the basic difference in biology. To clarify, it is suspected that even in healthy controls (i.e., individuals who do not meet criteria for ADHD), boys tend to display more hyperactive and stereotypic ADHD behavior than girls. Studies have both found and confronted the baseline levels of hyperactivity and related measures in healthy controls (e.g., Mowlem et al., 2019b; Nussbaum, 2012). A study by Mowlem et al. (2019b) suggests that girls with ADHD may have to present with more externalizing problems and a higher burden of emotional and behavioral issues before they can meet ADHD criteria. If this disparity is true, girls with moderate symptom loads can easily be overlooked, despite still facing less obvious elevated levels impairment. Nussbaum (2012) elaborates on this issue:

Because females demonstrate significantly fewer attention symptoms than do males, to be identified as having ADHD, they must demonstrate significantly more attention symptoms when compared with female peers than do males when compared with their male peers. As a result, it has been hypothesized that certain

females who are experiencing significant deficits in attention compared with other females are not receiving diagnoses. (p. 87)

It appears that two populations are being approached in a way that is only beneficial to one group and that special emphasis is not put on the clear differences in biology, despite having been exhibited in healthy controls (Achenbach et al., 1991). This difference allows boys to enjoy a diagnostic privilege while disadvantaging girls detrimentally. In a population sample of both referred and non-referred adolescents (i.e., those with and without ADHD, respectively), boys exhibited more externalizing behavior while girls exhibited more internalizing behavior, even when controlling for clinically referred individuals (Achenbach et al., 1991). This finding shows that even in unafflicted children, externalizing problems and outward behavioral issues are more prevalent in boys. Combined with the information presented by Nussbaum (2012), this result suggests that girls must have elevated relative levels of impairment to receive diagnosis and treatment. Conversely, boys displaying lower levels of impairment are often promptly identified, with some studies even highlighting a possible overdiagnosis of boys (e.g., Bruchmüller et al., 2012; Ford-Jones, 2015). Overall, it seems that girls require greater deviations from typical behavior—and thus greater symptom loads—to reach a higher symptom threshold required for referral and diagnosis of ADHD (Mowlem et al., 2019a).

Parent and Teacher Ratings

An important factor in identifying the existence and impairment level of ADHD symptoms is using parent and teacher ratings to guide evaluation. Unsurprisingly, the trends in such ratings often reflect the differences in symptomatology expressed above. These parent and teacher ratings were studied by DuPaul et al. (2020), who discovered that hyperactive motor behaviors (e.g., fidgeting and running around) were more readily endorsed for boys, whereas

symptoms concerning verbal social behavior (e.g., talking excessively or interrupting) were more likely to be endorsed for girls. This variance demonstrates a definitive difference in the expression of hyperactivity in ADHD boys and girls, at the very least from a direct observer's standpoint.

Parent and teacher ratings identified females with ADHD as having more difficulties with attention, hyperactivity, anxiety, depression, social issues, oppositional behaviors, and conduct problems in one study (Rucklidge & Tannock, 2001). Despite such clear ratings completed by parents and teachers, the same parents and teachers reported that they did not view the ADHD females as more *impaired* than males, suggesting the existence of some form of rater bias.

Comorbidities

Overall Rates

Comorbidities offer unfortunate complications for many people with ADHD, regardless of gender. For the sake of this literature review, "comorbid" will be used to refer to any psychological conditions or impairments that co-exist with ADHD. Comorbidities have long received recognition from researchers as being immensely prevalent in those with ADHD, with sampled comorbidity rates ranging from 60-100% in myriad studies (Gillberg et al., 2004).

One particularly robust study by Anastopoulos et al. (2018) pooled data from 443 college students both with and without ADHD. Students with ADHD reported significantly higher rates of comorbidity than students without ADHD, with 55% of students with ADHD suffering from at least one comorbid condition and 31.8% suffering from two or more comorbidities. In comparison, the healthy controls only reported comorbidity rates of 11.2% and 4%, respectively. These data portray the overwhelming threat that comorbidities pose to individuals with ADHD.

Consulting the statistics, the students with ADHD in the study by Anastopoulos et al. (2018) were at approximately five times more of a risk for developing a comorbid condition than their typically developing peers. While these exact statistics are not generalizable, they offer evidence that suggests an increased risk of developing comorbidities for those with ADHD. Specifically, researchers have found evidence suggesting that individuals with ADHD suffer from depressive and anxiety symptoms at a higher rate than those without the disorder (Nelson & Liebel, 2017). Additionally, children with ADHD are at an increased risk of developing other psychological impairments such as tic disorders and learning disabilities (Spencer et al., 2007).

Gender-Specific Prevalence

Undoubtedly, individuals with ADHD suffer from comorbidities at an alarming rate; however, females uniquely experience comorbidities and are suspected of facing more problematic symptom profiles (Gershon, 2002). Females with ADHD particularly struggle with increased levels of anxiety, depression, and eating disorders (Quinn, 2008). Females with ADHD were found to have greater levels of comorbid internalizing symptoms than their male counterparts in a study by Skogli et al. (2013). That same study corroborated the findings of both Rucklidge and Tannock (2001) and Nelson and Liebel (2017), reporting that the ADHD females in their study exhibited more difficulties with anxiety and depression than ADHD males. Biederman and colleagues (2008) reported a high comorbidity between major depression and ADHD, which increased one's risk of substance abuse, anxiety disorders, suicidal ideation, and bipolar disorder.

It is important to acknowledge the widespread prevalence of comorbidities in females with ADHD because—in cases of comorbid anxiety and depression particularly—ADHD symptoms can be misidentified as characteristic of the comorbid conditions (Quinn & Madhoo,

2014). This misidentification can lead to the failure to diagnose ADHD correctly, which subsequently results in a lack of proper treatment to address an individual's complete symptom profile. Even when the comorbid conditions are treated, girls will continue to struggle if their underlying ADHD is not diagnosed and treated (Quinn, 2005).

The Dangerous Role of Biases and Stereotypes

As a result of gender-based discrepancies in the prevalence rates of ADHD, symptom thresholds for diagnosis, comorbidity profiles, and relative symptomatology, many scholars have pointed to bias as an explanatory factor (e.g., Gaub & Carlson, 1997; Gershon, 2002). Some researchers suggest that the significant impact of inattention and self-control issues on girls with ADHD is presently underestimated due to bias in the field (Soffer et al., 2008). In fact, scholars have pieced together specific potential biases that may plague the diagnostic path for many young girls.

Gender Bias and Stereotyping

Historically, ADHD has been commonly associated with hyperactive young boys, both in the general public and among researchers. Unfortunately, this stereotype has grown into an unintentionally catastrophic roadblock for many girls with ADHD. One study conducted by Ford-Jones (2015) found evidence suggesting that boys with certain sets of hyperactive symptoms likely serve as the foundation for the prototypical child with ADHD. In basing one's diagnostic decisions on a prototype, clinicians risk misdiagnosis and possibly exacerbating a patient's condition. Such misdiagnosis likely results from neglecting core ADHD symptoms in girls or the possible overdiagnosis of ADHD in boys.

Additionally, children diagnosed with ADHD are commonly associated with poorer academic performance and behavioral disturbances (Quinn & Madhoo, 2014). However, it is

theorized that many girls with ADHD effectively *mask* their symptoms—a process that requires much cognitive effort that can eventually contribute to decreased psychological health (Quinn, 2005). When girls mask their symptoms, they typically aim to conform to social roles expected of them. Often, this behavior can inadvertently contribute to girls' going undiagnosed as they appear as quiet, orderly individuals who perform well in school; however, Quinn (2005) argues that the presence of high academic performance should not negate an ADHD diagnosis.

This example of girls' turning their symptoms inward to avoid external rejection or judgment is representative of the core of the issue of underdiagnosis: the internalization versus externalization of ADHD symptoms. Providing further support, Quinn (2005) asserted that the pressure of filling social roles causes females to internalize and view problems as existing within themselves, as opposed to the externalization of boys, which shifts the responsibility of a problem to outside sources. As with many pervasive gender norms, this particular bias can often become a self-perpetuating stereotype. Young boys' and girls' conforming to the gender roles expected of them further confounds the issue and demonstrates the necessity and importance of further research on the implications of conformity on ADHD.

Another fascinating dimension of gender differences in diagnostic likelihood was encountered in a study conducted by Klefsjo et al. (2020). Klefsjo and colleagues (2020) analyzed information from a database of adolescents with ADHD and found that girls were consistently older than boys upon diagnosis. Furthermore, in comparison with ADHD boys, girls with ADHD were found to be older upon their first clinic visit, more often referred to the clinic for emotional problems, and had more clinic visits on average before a diagnosis was given. These dismal results paint a clear picture of the experiences of girls with ADHD in clinical settings: more frequent visits, longer waiting periods for treatment, and more internalizing

problems. This study identifies critiques of the current diagnostic path and subsequent clinical course of ADHD girls, showcasing both the validity and the degree of the issue at hand.

In a study analyzing the developmental trajectories of patients with ADHD, Millenet et al. (2017) indicated a distressing function of expectations. The researchers suggested that gender-specific expectations of normative behavior in boys and girls can be harmful because girls must stray further from "normal" behavior to receive an ADHD diagnosis (Mowlem et al., 2019a). This finding likely entails altered perceptions of ADHD symptomatology in boys and girls based on what others expect of them. This sort of bias was identified by Millenet at al. (2019) and poses a psychosocial risk to youth with ADHD—especially girls—who may struggle to conform by suppressing their symptoms. Overall, the societal expectations of normative behavior comprise yet another domain in which bias and gender are all too relevant.

"Disruptive Boy" Stereotype

The "disruptive boy" stereotype, as coined by Mowlem et al. (2019b), is the overgeneralization of specific, often disorderly, ADHD symptom profiles as representative of every individual diagnosed with ADHD. This stereotype is highly suspected of adversely impacting females' likelihood of being diagnosed, as it emphasizes symptoms more stereotypically seen in boys (Mowlem et al., 2019b). The potential for harm is immense; if girls are being expected to meet standards designed for hyperactive boys, only girls who are more "boy-like" and externalizing may receive necessary clinical attention.

Shockingly, the "disruptive boy" stereotype yields considerable power over those in a child's diagnostic path, such as psychiatrists, parents, and teachers. In Rucklidge and Tannock's (2001) study, parents and teachers rated adolescents with ADHD on various measures. Despite rating ADHD girls as impaired in a vast array of measures of psychopathology, neither the

parents nor the teachers rated the girls as more *impaired* than boys. This finding is extraordinarily intriguing as it points to bias even in the caregivers and authority figures in children's lives. While the study reported more overall psychological impairment for girls on various measures, some confounding variables nonetheless clouded the raters' perception of ADHD girls' impairment.

The reality of the "disruptive boy" stereotype for many is a more mellow "inattentive girl." An expert consensus indicated that the field requires more deliberate attention to be given to subtler expressions of ADHD that typically manifest in females (Young et al., 2020). Moreover, Young et al. (2020) explained that the "disruptive boy" stereotype exposes ways in which the field can improve, such as identifying girls with ADHD, regardless of the presence of externalizing or outwardly obvious symptoms. The 'disruptive boy" stereotype is one mere example of the adversity many girls must overcome to receive adequate treatment for their neurodevelopmental disorders.

The Representativeness Heuristic

An alternative hypothesis suggests that the use of the representativeness heuristic among professionals along the diagnostic path exacerbates the effect of bias on diagnosis. The representativeness heuristic is often used when judging the probability of someone's or something's belonging to a specific category or process (Tversky & Kahneman, 1974). Tversky and Kahneman's (1974) theory of the heuristic explains that it is generally helpful, but misuse thereof often results in "severe and systematic errors" (p. 1125). Recent research has turned toward a theory in which the widespread misuse of the representativeness heuristic, paired with common stereotypical foundations for the heuristics themselves, is detrimental to many females' treatment paths.

Proponents of the theory, Bruchmüller et al. (2011) discovered evidence of the use of the representativeness heuristic in clinical practice. In this robust study, researchers sent case vignettes (i.e., summative descriptions of theoretical patients) to 1000 child psychologists, who were then asked to provide a diagnosis. Astoundingly, boys were found to be more readily diagnosed with ADHD than girls, even when they had identical symptom profiles. Bruchmüller and colleagues (2011) attributed this concerning trend to clinicians' reliance on the representativeness heuristic to identify a prototypical ADHD child. Both the existence of the systemic underdiagnosis of girls and overdiagnosis of boys were considered to be affected by the use of the representativeness heuristic (Bruchmüller et al., 2011).

A major takeaway from the study conducted by Bruchmüller et al.'s (2011) study is that the exact same symptom profile is evaluated differently in boys and girls on the sole basis of gender. It is vastly important that clinicians become aware of and actively try to avoid the use of heuristics and biases in practice. It is unethical and inequitable to use bias as a deciding factor in a child's diagnosis. Only through deliberate effort will this unfortunate phenomenon be mitigated in mental health professionals who remain responsible for the care of children.

The "Halo Effect"

As aforementioned, parent and teacher ratings of symptoms are tools frequently used during a patient's assessment for diagnosis. The ratings are especially vulnerable to the "halo effect," a bias in which teachers or parents make assumptions about an individual's behavior in other settings based on the presence of a desirable or undesirable behavior in one known situation (Hartung et al., 2006). Assumptions of desirable behavior occurring across domains are results of positive halo effects, while assumptions concerning undesirable behavior are due to negative halo effects (Hartung et al., 2006). It is theorized that both negative and positive halo

effects contribute to the widespread underdiagnosis of females with ADHD (Gershon, 2002; Rucklidge, 2008).

Gershon (2002) suggested that the presence of a halo effect can be harmful because disruptive behaviors are attended to while inattentive ones are often ignored, likely allowing many females to go unidentified with ADHD. This assertion is supported by Mowlem et al. (2019b), who suggested that emotional problems are viewed by parents and teachers as being less problematic than disorderly behaviors often seen in boys, which reduces girls' likelihood to be referred for treatment. These same researchers discovered evidence of this phenomenon by collecting parent ratings of ADHD symptoms and found gender-specific biases. Parents underreported the impairment of girls if they displayed less stereotypical ADHD behaviors, while the opposite trend was found for boys (Mowlem et al., 2019b). Mowlem et al. (2019b) explained that their findings have immense clinical implications and possibly indicate a systemic bias in the diagnostic process if parental reports are relied on too heavily and if adults involved in the process are not aware of gender biases.

Researchers have discovered fascinating trends in classroom behavior among ADHD children that provide insight into the development of the halo effect among teachers. One study conducted by Abikoff et al. (2002) compared control students' behaviors to those of students with ADHD and found that ADHD girls exhibited less rule-breaking and less disruptive behaviors than ADHD boys. Additionally, Abikoff et al. (2002) found evidence indicating that the decreased presence of disruptive externalizing behaviors in ADHD girls results from deliberate symptom suppression. Girls' suppressing symptoms to avoid social rejection possibly explains some variance in the diagnostic rates of boys and girls with ADHD because girls, more than boys, 'mask' ADHD symptoms and often appear "normal" (Abikoff et al., 2002). If teachers

see girls performing well in the classroom and not exhibiting disruptive or hyperkinetic behaviors, it is likely a positive halo effect can surface and bias a teacher's ratings of a girl's ADHD symptoms. Alternatively, negative halo effects can occur in situations where boys display disruptive behavior in class, thus influencing a teacher's perceptions and subsequent ratings of a boy's behavior. Both scenarios contribute to prototypical representations of children with ADHD as aforementioned, thus exacerbating the repercussions of reliance on the representativeness heuristic. Conversely, there is some debate in the field concerning the impact of halo effects. For instance, Alacha and Lefler (2021) suggested that negative halo effects alone do not contribute to inflated diagnosis rates in boys unless accompanied by the presence of a more severe disorder (e.g., conduct disorder or oppositional defiant disorder). Nonetheless, in boys specifically, it was found that parents are more likely to endorse ADHD symptoms if a child has a more severe disorder, suggesting inflated diagnosis rates of ADHD exist in that particular population (Alacha & Lefler, 2021). This supports my argument that the presence of negative halo effects in parent and teacher ratings of boys contributes in some part to the underdiagnosis of females with ADHD.

Bias in Diagnostic Criteria

The DSM-5 and Stereotypical Presentations of ADHD

Adherence to the DSM-5 criteria is necessitated in clinical practice and diagnostic processes. However, many researchers have begun to question the appropriateness of the diagnostic criteria for all children with ADHD. The diagnostic criteria, as laid out by the DSM-5, are the foundation used by professionals in the field to identify patients with ADHD. The first major critique of the diagnostic criteria is of the data that informed the writing of the criteria. In the previous edition of the manual, the DSM-IV, diagnostic criteria were based primarily on

observations of mostly young boys (Lahey et al., 1994). The updated version, the DSM-5, built on its predecessor based on a series of field studies that consisted of a majority of males (Clarke et al., 2013). The consensus of those concerned appears to be that the DSM-5 may not have adequate standards set to evaluate girls if the criteria themselves are historically and systematically built on samples of males. As previously demonstrated in this literature review, girls and boys undoubtedly express ADHD symptoms differently, and thus cannot effectively be evaluated by standards biased by a different population.

A second major critique of the DSM-5 diagnostic criteria concerns the gender differences in threshold levels required for an ADHD diagnosis. As previously discussed, ADHD girls seem to require more impairment compared to healthy girls than ADHD boys necessitate compared to healthy boys to receive a diagnosis (Mowlem et al., 2019b; Nussbaum, 2012). Because only the most noticeable girls with ADHD most often receive diagnoses, it has been posited that the diagnostic criteria are biased towards a male presentation of ADHD, which has broader clinical implications for sex role socialization (Mowlem et al., 2019a). A third critique of the diagnostic process is that standardized rating scales used to assess patients feature items that yet again predominantly favor a male presentation of the disorder (Hinshaw et al., 2021; Millenet et al., 2017; Soffer, et al., 2007). Scholars in the field have criticized the overwhelming lack of female-relevant items, such as distinguishing between overt hyperactivity (e.g., running around) and the subtler presentation seen in females (e.g., talking excessively) (Hinshaw et al., 20201; Rucklidge, 2008; Young et al., 2020). Many researchers have started to question why such small symptom classification alterations have not yet been made to the DSM-5.

A fourth critique of the cross-gender applicability of the DSM-5 diagnostic criteria concerns the stereotypic framing of ADHD behaviors. Ohan and Johnston (2005) conducted a

study to address the biased nature of the criteria items. In the study, mothers were asked to rate how gender-specific and problematic they found the DSM-IV symptoms of ADHD to be. The results showed that mothers unquestionably perceived the symptoms of ADHD to be descriptive of boys in general (Ohan and Johnston, 2005). This is a major concern because parents and teachers are key to the diagnostic process, so if mothers assume ADHD traits are representative of boys, they are less likely to consider getting young girls evaluated for the disorder, thus decreasing the referral rates of girls further. An additional critique outlines that the prominence of emotional problems is a partial explanatory principle for the difference in diagnosis rates (Mowlem et al., 2019b). In other words, girls are more likely to be diagnosed with ADHD if they have prominent externalizing issues, which has implications for the female phenotype and whether emotionality is more central to it than that of males. This means that girls can express their difficulties in a different, more emotional way than boys do, which suggests that an aspect of emotionality would likely aid in the identification and diagnosis of females with ADHD.

Researchers caution that females are likely receiving inadequate treatment as a result of the bias that exists in diagnostic criteria (Mowlem et al.,2019b; Nussbaum, 2012). Mowlem et al. (2019) suggest that the current DSM-5 diagnostic criteria contribute to females receiving alternate diagnoses in relation to their internalizing symptoms (e.g., anxiety or depression), and that females' diagnoses are often delayed. In agreement, Nussbaum (2012) stressed that females are being diagnosed with other forms of psychopathology like bipolar disorder or dysthymia and that many are receiving inappropriate treatment for their underlying ADHD. In general, scholars concur that many females are likely misdiagnosed, diagnosed later on average, or not diagnosed at all due to problems with the DSM-5 diagnostic criteria.

Potential Recommendations for the DSM-5

In response to this issue, many suggest that the DSM-5 could benefit from including gender-specific considerations as it pertains to diagnosing ADHD (e.g., Hong et al., 2014; Klefsjo et al., 2020; Quinn, 2005). Scholars are calling for more research to focus on the development of gender-appropriate, female-relevant items to be included in diagnostic criteria and other diagnostic tools, such as parent and teacher ratings (Ohan and Johnston, 2005; Rucklidge, 2008). Some female-sensitive items have been specifically identified as suitable for use in diagnostic practices, though they have not been implemented. Ohan and Johnston (2005) suggested including items such as 'giggles and/or talks excessively, 'changes friends impulsively or without thinking', and 'doodles instead of completing classwork' in diagnostic practices. These items highlight the internal and subtle manifestations of ADHD that are far less noticeable than current diagnostic items such as 'often runs about or climbs in situations where it is not appropriate' and 'often interrupts or intrudes on others' (APA, 2013).

Nevertheless, the clearest sentiment in the field is that clinicians must be made aware of the gender differences that exist in the expression of ADHD. Quinn (2005) advocated for clinicians to be aware of the various different presentations of ADHD to increase the likelihood of accurate and timely diagnosis for females. In their annual research review, Hinshaw et al. (2021) indicated that it would be beneficial to include diagnostic items that support both male-and female-specific manifestations of ADHD. The authors continued on to recommend that more emphasis be placed on the detection of inattention, disorganization, and symptom suppression/compensation in young girls (Hinshaw et al., 2021).

Recently, the issue was addressed as Young et al. (2020) developed an expert consensus and established an aggregate of professional opinions which detailed their recommendations for

combatting the likely underdiagnosis of females with ADHD. Early intervention, emphasis on a subtler, internalizing symptomatology, and the development of a complex and flexible lifespan model of care were recommended by Young et al. (2020) at the conclusion of their consensus. Some authoritative sources, such as Klefsjo et al. (2020), call for less strictness in the diagnostic criteria in terms of contexts. To elaborate, the DSM-5 requires that a patient experiences impairment in two or more contexts (e.g., school or home) for that patient to receive a diagnosis (APA, 2013). Among others, Klefsjo et al. (2020) suggested that these criteria be diminished because of the high prevalence of girls suppressing or masking their symptoms in social situations, as demonstrated by Abikoff et al. (2002). It has been argued that girls often only show subtle symptoms at school which can delay or impede a girl's potential for diagnosis. Alternatively, Nussbaum (2012) explained that the criteria requiring multiple contexts is valid and must remain in place to avoid the risk of overidentification and misdiagnosis of healthy children if the threshold is lowered. Nonetheless, it is evident that some sort of change to the current diagnostic practices is warranted as the field in its current state is allowing girls to go unnoticed and untreated for a disorder that results in heightened impairment. Whether the diagnostic criteria as laid out in the DSM-5 is reevaluated and revised or clinicians are simply required to be aware of the implications the gender differences in ADHD have, something must be done to right this systemic and harmful wrong against girls.

Conclusion

Taking into consideration the adversity girls are required to overcome to receive a diagnosis for ADHD, it is my informed opinion that females are going undiagnosed and untreated for their underlying ADHD due to systemic diagnostic issues. Girls are difficult to identify as having ADHD because of the prevalence of a primarily inattentive presentation,

largely internalized symptomatology, the presence of comorbid conditions, and the reliance on compensatory strategies to suppress or mask core ADHD symptoms that typically necessitate referral. I believe that until deliberate, foundational changes are made to the way ADHD is diagnosed, young boys will continue to be diagnosed at far greater rates than any other population while females will continue to be left behind. This disorder, previously and erroneously thought to be one typical of young boys, has been confounded by discrepancies in prevalence rates that showcase both gender and age differences unexplainable by normal variance. ADHD continues to exist as a neurobehavioral disorder that afflicts many over the lifespan and affects up to 32 million females worldwide (Staller and Faraone, 2006), making the timely and thorough diagnosis of females with ADHD a major public health concern. Recent data demonstrates how biases, stereotypes, comorbidities, gender norms, and diagnostic criteria have systemically disadvantaged females and their likelihood to receive adequate treatment for their afflictions. It is pertinent that the DSM-5 diagnostic criteria be reevaluated and that parents, teachers, clinicians, and any other adults key to the diagnostic practices for ADHD are made aware of the varying presentations of ADHD to make reparations for the neglect girls and women have historically and consistently faced.

References

- Abikoff, H. B., Jensen, P. S., Arnold, L. L. E., Hoza, B., Hechtman, L., Pollack, S., ... Wigal, T. (2002). Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 30(4), 349–359. doi:10.1023/a:1015713807297
- Achenbach, T. M., Howell, C. T., Quay, H. C., Conners, C. K., & Bates, J. E. (1991). National Survey of Problems and Competencies among Four- to Sixteen-Year-Olds: Parents' Reports for Normative and Clinical Samples. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 56(3), i. doi:10.2307/1166156
- Ahmad, S. I., Owens, E. B., & Hinshaw, S. P. (2019). Little evidence for late-onset ADHD in a longitudinal sample of women. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 87(1), 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000353
- Alacha, H. F., & Lefler, E. K. (2021). Negative Halo Effects in Parent Ratings of ADHD, ODD, and CD. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 43(3), 466–477. doi:10.1007/s10862-020-09860-1
- Anastopoulos, A. D., DuPaul, G. J., Weyandt, L. L., Morrissey-Kane, E., Sommer, J. L., Rhoads, L. H., Murphy, K. R., Gormley, M. J., & Gudmundsdottir, B. G. (2018). Rates and patterns of comorbidity among first-year college students with ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 47(2), 236–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2015.1105137
- Biederman, J., Ball, S. W., Monuteaux, M. C., Mick, E., Spencer, T. J., McCreary, M., ...

 Faraone, S. V. (2008). New insights into the comorbidity between ADHD and Major

 Depression in adolescent and young adult females. *Journal of the American Academy of*Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 47(4), 426–434. doi:10.1097/chi.0b013e31816429d3

- Bruchmüller, K., Margraf, J., & Schneider, S. (2012). Is ADHD diagnosed in accord with diagnostic criteria? Overdiagnosis and influence of client gender on diagnosis. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 80(1), 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026582
- Clarke, D. E., Narrow, W. E., Regier, D. A., Kuramoto, S. J., Kupfer, D. J., Kuhl, E. A., ...

 Kraemer, H. C. (2013). DSM-5 Field Trials in the United States and Canada, Part I:

 Study Design, Sampling Strategy, Implementation, and Analytic Approaches. American

 Journal of Psychiatry, 170(1), 43–58. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12070998
- **Cottone**, D. M., & McCabe, P. C. (2019). Gender-Based Differences in the Neuroanatomy and Symptomatology of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Communique*, 47(7), 1–22.
- DuPaul, G. J., Fu, Q., Anastopoulos, A. D., Reid, R., & Power, T. J. (2020). ADHD Parent and Teacher Symptom Ratings: Differential Item Functioning across Gender, Age, Race, and Ethnicity. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology. doi:10.1007/s10802-020-00618-7
- Ford-Jones, P.C. (2015) Misdiagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: 'normal behaviour' and relative maturity. *Paediatr Child Health*, 20(4), 200-202.
- Gaub, M. & Carlson, C. (1997). Gender differences in ADHD: a meta-analysis and critical review. *J. Am. Acad. Child Ado/esc. Psychiatry*, *36*(8), 1036-1045.
- Gershon J. (2002). A meta-analytic review of gender differences in ADHD. *Journal of attention disorders*, *5*(3), 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/108705470200500302
- Gillberg, C., Gillberg, I. C., Rasmussen, P., Kadesjö, B., Söderström, H., Råstam, M., Johnson,
 M., Rothenberger, A., & Niklasson, L. (2004). Co-existing disorders in ADHD -implications for diagnosis and intervention. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 13
 Suppl 1, I80–I92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-004-1008-4

- Gómez-Benito, J., Van de Vijver, F. J. R., Balluerka, N., & Caterino, L. (2019). Cross-Cultural and Gender Differences in ADHD Among Young Adults. Journal of Attention Disorders, 23(1), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715611748
- Hartung, C. M., Van Pelt, J. C., Armendariz, M. L., & Knight, L. A. (2006). Biases in Ratings of Disruptive Behavior in Children. Journal of Attention Disorders, 9(4), 620–630. doi:10.1177/1087054705284233
- Hinshaw, S. P., Nguyen, P. T., O'Grady, S. M., & Rosenthal, E. A. (2021). Annual Research Review: Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in girls and women: underrepresentation, longitudinal processes, and key directions. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*, 10.1111/jcpp.13480. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13480
- Hong, S. B., Dwyer, D., Kim, J. W., Park, E. J., Shin, M. S., Kim, B. N., Yoo, H. J., Cho, I. H., Bhang, S. Y., Hong, Y. C., Pantelis, C., & Cho, S. C. (2014). Subthreshold attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder is associated with functional impairments across domains: a comprehensive analysis in a large-scale community study. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 23(8), 627–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-013-0501-z
- Klefsjö, U., Kantzer, A. K., Gillberg, C., & Billstedt, E. (2021). The road to diagnosis and treatment in girls and boys with ADHD gender differences in the diagnostic process. *Nordic journal of psychiatry*, 75(4), 301–305. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2020.1850859
- Kok, F. M., Groen, Y., Fuermaier, A. B., & Tucha, O. (2016). Problematic Peer Functioning in Girls with ADHD: A Systematic Literature Review. *PloS one*, 11(11), e0165119. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165119

- Lahey, B. B., Applegate, B., McBurnett, K., Biederman, J., Greenhill, L., Hynd, G. W., Barkley,
 R., & Newcorn, J. (1994). DSM-IV field trials for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
 in children and adolescents. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 151(11), 1673–
 1685. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.151.11.1673
- Millenet, S., Laucht, M., Hohm, E., Jennen-Steinmetz, C., Hohmann, S., Schmidt, M. H., Esser,
 G., Banaschewski, T., Brandeis, D., & Zohsel, K. (2018). Sex-specific trajectories of
 ADHD symptoms from adolescence to young adulthood. *European child & adolescent*psychiatry, 27(8), 1067–1075. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-018-1129-9
- Mowlem, F., Agnew-Blais, J., Taylor, E., & Asherson, P. (2019). Do different factors influence whether girls versus boys meet ADHD diagnostic criteria? Sex differences among children with high ADHD symptoms. *Psychiatry research*, *272*, 765–773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.128
- Mowlem, F. D., Rosenqvist, M. A., Martin, J., Lichtenstein, P., Asherson, P., & Larsson, H. (2019). Sex differences in predicting ADHD clinical diagnosis and pharmacological treatment. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 28(4), 481–489. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-018-1211-3
- Nelson, J. M., & Liebel, S. W. (2018). Anxiety and depression among college students with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Cross-informant, sex, and subtype differences. *Journal of American college health*: *J of ACH*, 66(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2017.1382499
- Nussbaum N. L. (2012). ADHD and female specific concerns: a review of the literature and clinical implications. *Journal of attention disorders*, *16*(2), 87–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054711416909

- Ohan, J. L., & Johnston, C. (2005). Gender appropriateness of symptom criteria for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, oppositional-defiant disorder, and conduct disorder. *Child psychiatry and human development*, *35*(4), 359–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-005-2694-y
- Quinn, P. O. (2005). Treating adolescent girls and women with ADHD: Gender-Specific issues.

 Journal of Clinical Psychology, 61(5), 579-587.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20121
- Quinn, P. O. (2008). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and its comorbidities in women and girls: An evolving picture. Current Psychiatry Reports, 10(5), 419–423. doi:10.1007/s11920-008-0067-5
- Quinn, P. O., & Madhoo, M. (2014). A review of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in women and girls: uncovering this hidden diagnosis. *The primary care companion for CNS disorders*, *16*(3), PCC.13r01596. https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.13r01596
- Ramtekkar, U. P., Reiersen, A. M., Todorov, A. A., & Todd, R. D. (2010). Sex and age differences in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms and diagnoses: implications for DSM-V and ICD-11. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(3), 217–28.e283.
- Rucklidge J. J. (2008). Gender differences in ADHD: implications for psychosocial treatments. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics*, 8(4), 643–655. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.8.4.643
- Rucklidge, J. J., & Tannock, R. (2001). Psychiatric, psychosocial, and cognitive functioning of female adolescents with ADHD. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and*

- Adolescent Psychiatry, 40(5), 530–540. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200105000-00012
- Sassi, R. B. (2010). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and gender. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *13*(1), 29–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-009-0121-2
- Skogli, E. W., Teicher, M. H., Andersen, P. N., Hovik, K. T., & Øie, M. (2013). ADHD in girls and boys--gender differences in co-existing symptoms and executive function measures. *BMC psychiatry*, *13*, 298. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-13-298
- Soffer, S. L., Mautone, J. A., & Power, T. J. (2007). Understanding girls with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Applying research to clinical practice. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy, 4*(1), 14-29. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0100828
- Spencer, T. J., Biederman, J., & Mick, E. (2007). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: diagnosis, lifespan, comorbidities, and neurobiology. *Ambulatory pediatrics: the official journal of the Ambulatory Pediatric Association*, 7(1 Suppl), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ambp.2006.07.006
- Staller, J., & Faraone, S. V. (2006). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in girls: epidemiology and management. *CNS drugs*, *20*(2), 107–123. https://doi.org/10.2165/00023210-200620020-00003
- Thomas, R., Sanders, S., Doust, J., Beller, E., & Glasziou, P. (2015). Prevalence of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, *135*(4), e994–e1001. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-3482
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Science, 185(4157), 1124–1131. doi:10.1126/science.185.4157.1124

- Walters, A. (2018). Girls with ADHD: Underdiagnosed and untreated. *Brown University Child & Adolescent Behavior Letter*, *34*(11), 8. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbl.30337
- Young, S., Adamo, N., Ásgeirsdóttir, B. B., Branney, P., Beckett, M., Colley, W., Cubbin, S., Deeley, Q., Farrag. E., Gudjonsson, G., Hill, P., Hollingdale, J., Kilic, O., Lloyd, T., Mason, P., Paliokosta, E., Perecherla, S., Sedgwick, J., Skirrow, C., & Tierney, K. (2020). Females with ADHD: An expert consensus statement taking a lifespan approach providing guidance for the identification and treatment of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder in girls and women. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20(1), 1-27.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02707-9